IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO.: SC10-1295

ANGELA SAMPLES and KENNETH RAY SAMPLES, individually and as parents and next friends of MACKENZIE SAMPLES, a minor,

Petitioners,

VS.

FLORIDA BIRTH-RELATED NEUROLOGICAL INJURY COMPENSATION ASSOCIATION,

Respondent.	
	/

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SCOTT R. MCMILLEN
Florida Bar No. 290939
ALLISON C. MCMILLEN
Florida Bar No. 50222
MCMILLEN LAW FIRM, P.A.
390 North Orange Avenue
Suite 140
Orlando, Florida 32801
(407) 843-0126 (Telephone)
(407) 849-1267 (Facsimile)
Co-Counsel for Petitioner

MAYANNE DOWNS
Florida Bar No. 754900
FREDERICK S. WERMUTH

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

MacKenzie Samples was born on August 20, 2007 to Angela and Kenneth Samples. (R. 2) At birth, MacKenzie suffered severe brain damage due to a lack of oxygen during the labor and delivery process. (R. 20, 22) MacKenzie's parents filed a petition with the Division of Administrative Hearings for benefits under Florida's Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Act. (R. 2-4)

After conducting an investigation, the Florida Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Association ("NICA") agreed that MacKenzie's injuries qualified her for the NICA program, and the Samples and NICA filed a Stipulation and Joint Petition for Benefits with the administrative law judge. (R. 37-50) That stipulation provided that as soon as it was approved by the administrative law judge, the Samples would begin receiving NICA benefits, including a single \$100,000 lump sum award to both parents under section 766.31(1)(b)1, Florida Statutes. (R. 42) However, the Samples maintain that the parental award should be \$100,000 for each parent, and therefore the stipulation allowed the Samples to preserve the issue of the interpretation and constitutionality of section 766.31(1)(b)1, Florida Statutes, to be argued before the administrative law judge at a later hearing. (R. 41-42) The stipulation was approved on June 17, 2009. (R. 57-61)

Prior to the scheduled hearing, the parties filed a second stipulation (R. 71-76), which included the following language:

E. Admitted Facts.

- (1) Once NICA ascertains that a claim is covered, NICA frequently offers a lump sum payment of a parental award totaling \$100,000, regardless of whether there are one or two parents involved in the claim. Such offer is subject to the subsequent approval of the ALJ.
- (2) Pursuant to Section 766.309, Florida Statutes, the ALJ must make all NICA awards, which includes the parental award pursuant to Section 766.31(1)(b)1, Florida Statutes. An ALJ has never ordered NICA to pay a parental award in excess of \$100,000, regardless of whether there was one parent or two parents involved in the claim.
- (3) In a typical covered claim, NICA does not customarily argue that the parental award should be less than the full \$100,000 authorized.
- (4) Once the ALJ has ordered payment of a parental award in the amount of \$100,000, NICA pays the \$100,000 parental award by check made payable to both parents jointly, unless otherwise ordered by the ALJ.
- (5) In the past, when there was a dispute between the parents with respect to the amount of the parental award to go to each parent, the ALJ has specified in the Final Order how much of the parental award would be paid to the mother and how much would be paid to the father. In those instances, the combined parental award was typically for the full \$100,000.

At the hearing, the Samples argued that the language of section 766.31(1)(b)1 is ambiguous, and that for reasons of equal protection, it must be interpreted to authorize a separate award of up to \$100,000 for each parent. (*See*, *e.g.*, T. 11-13). They also raised the issues of unconstitutional vagueness and a

denial of access to the courts. (T. 10, 16). The administrative law judge declined to rule on the constitutional issues, but allowed evidence and argument to be presented on them. The administrative law judge also took judicial notice of the Final Orders issued in the prior NICA cases of *Wojtowicz v. Florida Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Association*, DOAH Case No. 93-4268N (July 22, 1994) (R. 181-190), and *Waddell v. Florida Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Association*, DOAH Case No. 98-2991N (May 11, 1999). (T. 5-6) After the hearing, the administrative law judge issued an order denying the Samples' claim for additional compensation under section 766.31(1)(b)1, and holding that the statute clearly provides for a single award of up to \$100,000 to both parents combined. (T. 196-211)

The Samples appealed the decision to the Fifth District Court of Appeal, which held that section 766.31(1)(b)1, Florida Statutes is not ambiguous, and that it "clearly limits parental compensation to a single award not to exceed \$100,000." *Samples v. Florida Birth-Related Neurological Compensation Ass'n*, 40 So. 3d 18, 20 (5th DCA 2010). The Fifth District further held that section 766.31(1)(b)1 is

_

¹ Wojtowicz and Waddell are the only two NICA cases the parties are aware of in which the child's parents were unable to agree with one another on how to divide the parental award between themselves. In both cases, the Administrative Law Judge apportioned a single \$100,000 award between the two parents, with the child's mother receiving a substantially larger portion than the father. The Administrative Law Judge based his apportionment of the awards at least partly on the notion that the parental award in section 766.31(1)(b)1, Florida Statutes is intended as compensation for the parents' loss of filial consortium.

constitutional, but based on this case's similarity to *St. Mary's Hospital, Inc. v. Phillipe*, 769 So. 2d 961 (Fla. 2000), the court certified the following question as one of great public importance:

Does the limitation in section 766.31(1)(b)11., [sic] Florida Statutes, of a single award of \$100,000 to both parents violate the Equal Protection Clause of the United States and Florida Constitutions?

Samples, 40 So. 3d at 31.

Petitioners timely filed their Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Court. On September 17, 2010, this Court entered its order accepting jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Section 766.31(1)(b)1, Florida Statutes must be interpreted to provide for parental compensation of up to \$100,000 for each parent or legal guardian involved in making the NICA claim. If the statute is interpreted to limit parental compensation to \$100,000 in the aggregate, a sole parent involved in a NICA claim is entitled to receive a larger award than either parent may when there are two parents involved. Distinguishing between parents based solely on the number of claimants does not bear a rational relationship to any legitimate state objective, and violates the Equal Protection Clause of both the United States and the Florida Constitutions.

The NICA Act also fails to provide guidance as to how the Administrative Law Judge is to divide a single \$100,000 award between two parents who do not wish to share it. Interpreting section 766.31(1)(b)1 to permit each parent to recover up to \$100,000 avoids this unconstitutional vagueness. Finally, since the NICA Act is a statutory substitute for common-law remedies, interpreting section 766.31(1)(b)1 as Petitioners urge lessens its impingement on the constitutional right of access to the courts.

ARGUMENT

THE LIMITATION ON THE PARENTAL AWARD IN SECTION 766.31(1)(b)1, FLORIDA STATUTES, AS CONSTRUED BY THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, VIOLATES THE FEDERAL AND STATE CONSTITUTIONS.

The Florida Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Act was enacted by the Florida Legislature in an attempt to stem rising malpractice insurance premiums for physicians practicing in the area of obstetrics. *See* § 766.301(1)(c) Fla. Stat. (2010). The Act established a fund to provide compensation, on a no-fault basis, to those affected by certain catastrophic birth injuries.

At issue in the instant case is the proper scope of parental recovery provided for in section 766.31(1)(b)1 of the Act, as follows:

(1) Upon determining that an infant has sustained a birth-related neurological injury and that obstetrical services were delivered by a participating physician at the birth, the administrative law judge shall make an award providing compensation for the following items relative to such injury:

(b)1. Periodic payments of an award to the parents or legal guardians of the infant found to have sustained a birth-related neurological injury, which award shall not exceed \$100,000. However, at the discretion of the administrative law judge, such award may be made in a lump sum.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal concluded that the statute "clearly limits parental compensation to a single award not to exceed \$100,000," no matter how many parents or legal guardians are involved in making a claim. *Samples v. Florida Birth-Related Neurological Injury Comp. Ass'n*, 40 So. 3d 18, 20 (5th DCA 2010). Recognizing that this construction of the statute raises a potential constitutional problem, however, the lower court asked this Court to address the following question of great public importance:

Does the limitation in section 766.31(1)(b)11. [sic], Florida Statutes, of a single award of \$100,000 to both parents violate the Equal Protection Clause of the United States and Florida Constitutions?

Id. at 31.

That question should be answered in the affirmative, and the statute construed instead to allow an award of up to \$100,000 for each parent. As interpreted by the lower court, the statute violates the Equal Protection Clause, is unconstitutionally vague, and violates parents' constitutional right of access to the courts. The statute is, however, ambiguous enough to be construed as providing for an award of up to \$100,000 for each parent, thereby avoiding these constitutional problems.

A. Equal Protection

This Court has repeatedly held that the Equal Protection Clause requires that "all statutory classifications that treat one person or group differently than others

must bear some reasonable relationship to a legitimate state objective." *Abdala v. World Omni Leasing, Inc.*, 582 So. 2d 330, 333 (Fla. 1991). *See also, e.g., Haber v. State*, 396 So. 2d 707, 708 (Fla. 1981). Section 766.31(1)(b)1, as interpreted by the lower court, fails to meet this test.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal concluded that section 766.31(1)(b)1 limits parental recovery to \$100,000, whether one parent is making a claim or more than one parent is involved.³ *Samples*, 40 So. 3d at 20. Under this interpretation,

_

²In its opinion below, the court applied a different test, holding that the Samples were required to show that: (1) they were treated differently under the law from similarly situated persons, (2) the statute "intentionally discriminates" against them, and (3) there was no rational basis for the discrimination. Samples, So. 3d at 23. With due respect to the lower court, the Samples do not believe the second part of this test is an accurate reflection of the law in Florida. A statute cannot logically "intend" to do anything. Further, the case cited by the lower court for this proposition, Miller v. State, 971 So. 2d 951, 953 (Fla. 5th DCA 2007), actually misstates a test used in another district court opinion – McElrath v. Burley, 707 So. 2d 836, 839 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998). In McElrath, an action for declaratory judgment, the court stated that in order to meet her burden, the plaintiff must show "that she was treated under the law differently from similarly situated persons, then that the defendant intentionally discriminated against her, and finally, that there was no rational basis for the discrimination." Id. at 839 (emphasis added). Not only is it unclear where the McElrath court came up with the second part of this test, but that court itself appears not to have actually considered the question of intentional discrimination in its analysis.

³Although Petitioners' argument is framed throughout in the context of parents, similar arguments could be applied in the situation of legal guardians, because section 766.31(1)(b)1 authorizes an award to "the parents or legal guardians." Presumably, there could be one guardian or more than one involved in a child's claim. As a practical matter, in all but the most unusual cases, the number of claimants for this award would be no greater than two.

then, parents seeking an award from the NICA program will be treated differently based on whether the injured baby has one or two parents involved in the claim. If only one parent makes a claim, that parent can (and always does) recover the maximum award of \$100,000 (R. 74-75), but if two parents are involved in the claim, each parent can only recover some fraction of that amount.

This issue could arise in multiple scenarios. For example, a child might have only one parent seeking an award because the other parent has died or is simply an absentee parent not involved in the child's life in any way. If a child has two parents involved in a claim, they might be a happily married couple, they might be divorced, or they might never have married. The two parents might both be involved in child care, yet not live together or even speak to each other. Those parents might be willing to divide a single parental award evenly, or they might engage in litigation over how to divide the single-limit cap between themselves.

No matter the scenario, however, the single parent stands to be compensated in an amount at least twice as much as each parent in a two-parent situation. This critical distinction, based solely on the number of claimants, does not bear a rational relationship to any legitimate state objective.

When courts examine a piece of legislation to determine whether a division into classes is rationally related to a legitimate state objective, the courts will generally examine the purpose for which the legislation was passed, not merely

any conceivable purpose the parties or court can imagine. *See, e.g., The Florida Bar v. St. Louis*, 967 So. 2d 108, 121 (Fla. 2007) (classification in Florida Bar rule regulating attorney conduct was rationally related to legitimate state objective of promoting public welfare and trust and confidence in the legal process); *Amerisure Ins. Co. v. State Farm Mut. Ins. Co.*, 897 So. 2d 1287, 1291 (Fla. 2007) (classification in insurance statute was rationally related to legitimate state objective of regulating insurance rates); *St. Mary's Hospital, Inc., v. Phillipe*, 769 So. 2d 961, 971 (Fla. 2000) (classification in medical malpractice arbitration statute bore no rational relationship to stated legislative goal of alleviating the financial crisis in the medical malpractice insurance industry).

Here, the Florida Legislature has stated that the goals of the NICA plan are to stabilize and reduce malpractice insurance premiums for certain healthcare providers and to provide compensation, on a no-fault basis, for a limited class of catastrophic injuries. In the preamble to the NICA chapter, the Legislature explained its intent, as follows:

(1) The Legislature makes the following findings:

(c) Because obstetric services are essential, it is incumbent upon the Legislature to provide a plan designed to result in the stabilization and reduction of malpractice insurance premiums for providers of such services in Florida.

(2) It is the intent of the Legislature to provide compensation, on a no-fault basis, for a limited class of catastrophic injuries that result in unusually high costs for custodial care and rehabilitation. This plan shall apply only to birth-related neurological injuries.

§§ 766.301(1)(c), 766.301(2), Fla. Stat. (2010).

These goals, then, are the "legitimate state objectives" that are the subject of an equal protection inquiry. Capping the parental award at \$100,000 no matter how many parents are making a claim bears no rational relationship to these objectives, but instead conflicts with the goal of providing fair compensation.

In finding to the contrary, the Fifth District Court of Appeal concluded that capping the total parental award at \$100,000 for both parents combined is rationally related to the goal of maintaining actuarial soundness for the NICA Plan. *Samples*, 40 So. 3d at 26. This Court should reject this finding, as actuarial soundness is not a "legitimate state objective" for purposes of equal protection analysis. Affirming such an objective would eviscerate equal protection review, because presumably it will always be less expensive, and thus better for a statute's actuarial soundness, to arbitrarily include some people in the reach of a statute and exclude others. *But see Doe v. Moore*, 410 F.3d 1337, 1348 (11th Cir. 2005) ("[s]tate budget concerns and resource allocation are legitimate government interests"); *accord Miller v. State*, 971 So. 2d 951, 955 (Fla. 5th DCA 2007).

Although it may be true that the continued actuarial soundness of the NICA Plan helps achieve the overall legislative goals, that is not enough. After all, <u>any</u> discriminatory classification that saves the NICA Plan money is presumably better for the Plan's continued actuarial soundness. For example, it would undoubtedly be better for the Plan's actuarial soundness if brown-eyed parents making a claim were limited to an award of only \$5.00. Surely NICA would agree that such a discriminatory classification would violate the Constitution.

This Court addressed a similarly arbitrary limitation on recovery in *St. Mary's Hospital, Inc.*, 769 So. 2d at 961. There, the relevant statute imposed a cap on non-economic damages in pre-suit arbitration under the Medical Malpractice Act. The statute provided that "non-economic damages shall be limited to a maximum of \$250,000 per incident." *Id.* at 964 (emphasis supplied). As in this case, the statute was challenged on the basis that it would be unjust to make multiple claimants share the same cap. *Id.* at 967.

This Court agreed, holding that where there are multiple claimants, such as when medical malpractice results in a death leaving multiple family survivors, the statute must be read to limit the recovery of each beneficiary to \$250,000, rather than limiting the total recovery of all beneficiaries combined. *Id.* at 972. Any other construction of the statute, this Court explained, would create significant equal protection concerns. *Id.* at 971. Interpreting the statute in such a manner

that in one case a sole survivor can recover the entire \$250,000 while in another case five survivors are left to divide that same amount "offends the fundamental notion of equal justice under the law." *Id.* at 972.

In reaching this conclusion, this Court noted that the legislative intent behind the malpractice arbitration statute was to alleviate the financial crisis in the medical liability insurance industry. *Id.* at 972. Interpreting the statutory cap to apply to all claimants in the aggregate would be inappropriate because "differentiating between a single claimant and multiple claimants bears no rational relationship to the Legislature's stated goal of alleviating the financial crisis in the medical liability insurance industry." *Id.* at 971.

If applying a single cap to multiple claimants bears no rational relationship to reducing malpractice insurance premiums for the arbitration statute at issue in *St. Mary's*, then it bears no rational relationship to that same goal in the NICA scheme. In both situations, awarding one claimant a different amount of money based solely on whether there is another claimant in the picture is a completely arbitrary distinction and bears no reasonable relationship to the stated legislative intent.

Indeed, awarding some parents less money from the NICA fund will not help to stabilize and reduce medical malpractice insurance premiums. In fact, the funds used to run the program do not even come from malpractice insurance companies. Instead, they come from the initial seed money from the Legislature and annual assessments on hospitals and physicians. *See* § 766.314, Florida Statutes.⁴

Awarding the higher sum for each parent may even result in fewer claimants attempting to avoid the NICA program in order to pursue their common-law medical malpractice remedies.⁵ Certainly, treating all parents equitably – and compensating them for a greater portion of their enormous loss – can only further the second part of the legislative goal, which is to provide compensation to families on a no-fault basis for these catastrophic injuries.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal attempted to distinguish this Court's decision in *St. Mary's* because that case dealt with tort liability for non-economic

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