IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

Case Number: SC10-1295 Lower Tribunal Case No.: 5D09-3378

ANGELA SAMPLES and KENNETH RAY SAMPLES, individually and as parents and next friends of MACKENZIE SAMPLES, a minor,

Petitioners,

vs.

FLORIDA BIRTH-RELATED NEUROLOGICAL INJURY COMPENSATION ASSOCIATION,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Discretionary Review from the Fifth District Court of Appeal

Wilbur E. Brewton, Esquire
Kelly B. Plante, Esquire
Tana D. Storey, Esquire
BREWTON PLANTE, P.A.
225 South Adams Street – Suite 250
Tallahassee, FL 32301
Phone: 850-222-7718
Fax: 850-222-8222
Attorneys for NICA

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

The Petitioners' argument is fundamentally flawed in that if the Plan is not actuarially sound, then the Plan cannot continue to function, at which time all the stated goals of the Plan would be thwarted.⁵ The Fifth District in <u>Samples</u>

⁵ The NICA Statute provides that: "in the event that the total of all current estimates [of the Plan] equals 80 percent of the funds on hand and the funds that will become available to the association within the next 12 months . . . the association shall not accept any new claims without express authority from the Legislature. . . ." <u>See</u> §766.314(9)(c), Fla. Stat. Further, "[i]f any person is precluded from asserting a claim against the association because of paragraph [766.314(9)(c)], the plan shall not constitute the exclusive remedy for such person, his or her personal representative, parents, dependents, or next of kin." Thus, if the Plan were to ultimately become actuarially unsound, the intended goals of the NICA Plan to provide limited compensation in an effort to assist in reducing

reviewed Section 766.31(1)(b)1., Florida Statutes, in relation to the Plan as a whole

and, in keeping with well established case law applying the rational basis test and

in agreement with NICA, stated, in part:

... maintaining actuarial soundness is an express goal of the program and is important to achieving the other goals of the program.

Limiting parental compensation to \$100,000, as required under section 766.31(1)(b)1., instead of judicially authorizing up to \$200,000, is rationally related to actuarial soundness-the less money NICA is required to pay the easier it will be for the Plan to remain actuarially sound....⁶

See Samples at 26.

The Petitioners erroneously rely, in part, on this Court's reasoning in St.

Mary's where this Court stated:

If we were to accept St. Mary's contention that the Legislature intended to limit noneconomic damages to \$250,000 per incident in the aggregate, then the death of a wife who leaves only a surviving spouse to claim the \$250,000 is not equal to the death of a wife who leaves a surviving spouse and four minor children, resulting in five claimants to divide \$250,000. We fail to see how this classification bears any rational relationship to the Legislature's stated goal of

medical malpractice insurance rates so as to ensure continued quality health care in Florida, would go by the wayside.

⁶ The Petitioners' reference in the Initial Brief to one of the goals of the NICA Plan being the provision of "fair compensation" is a mischaracterization of the Plan's goals. The term "fair compensation" is found in the legislative intent for Chapter 88-1, Laws of Florida, referencing awards of noneconomic damages in civil actions, <u>not under the NICA Statute</u>. See the preamble to Ch. 88-1, Laws of Florida (1988). The specific intent of the Plan is to provide "a limited system of compensation irrespective of fault." See §766.301(1)(d), Fla. Stat. <u>alleviating the financial crisis in the medical liability industry</u>. Such a categorization offends the fundamental notion of equal justice under the law and can only be described as purely arbitrary and unrelated to any state interest. [Citation omitted.] [Emphasis added.]

Id. at 972. This Court's reasoning in St. Mary's is inapplicable to the NICA Plan,

and Section 766.31(1)(b)1., Florida Statutes. The specific legislative intent and

goals for the NICA Plan as set forth in Section 766.301, Florida Statutes, are as

follows:

(1) The Legislature makes the following findings:

(a) Physicians practicing obstetrics are high-risk medical specialists for whom malpractice insurance premiums are very costly, and recent increases in such premiums have been greater for such physicians than for other physicians.

(b) Any birth other than a normal birth frequently leads to a claim against the attending physician; consequently, such physicians are among the physicians most severely affected by the current medical malpractice problems.

(c) Because obstetric services are essential, it is incumbent upon the Legislature to provide <u>a plan designed to result in the stabilization</u> <u>and reduction of malpractice insurance premiums</u> for providers of such services in Florida.

(d) The costs of birth-related neurological injury claims are particularly high and warrant the establishment of a limited system of compensation irrespective of fault. The issue of whether such claims are covered by this act must be determined exclusively in an administrative proceeding.

(2) It is the intent of the Legislature <u>to provide compensation, on a</u> <u>no-fault basis, for a limited class of catastrophic injuries that</u> <u>result in unusually high costs for custodial care and rehabilitation</u>.

This plan shall only apply to birth-related neurological injuries. [Emphasis added.] See also Coy, supra; Fluet, supra. The Plan designed by the Legislature is a substitute for a civil action for damages or arbitration within such a civil action where economic and noneconomic damages are available. Limiting the amount of the parental award is consistent with the Plan's intent to provide a limited system of compensation and is consistent with the need to maintain the actuarial soundness of the Plan. See Ch. 2003-416, Laws of Fla., §1 ¶ 18; R: Attachment I, Ex. 7, pp. 307-08 (finding that "[e]xperts acknowledge that NICA, a secondgeneration level reform of the insurance liability issue, functions as intended according to empirical evidence. It was, however, never intended to be a cure to insurance rates, but rather, was intended to maintain lower insurance premiums. Based upon its intended purpose"). Thus, in holding there is a rational basis, the Fifth District properly considered the stated legislative goals for the Plan and held that the actuarial soundness of the Plan is also a stated goal which in turn leads to the accomplishment of the other goals. Based on the record, Section 766.31(1)(b)1., Florida Statutes, authorization of an aggregate award to the parents in an amount not to exceed \$100,000, is a legitimate state objective directly related to the stated goals in the legislative intent for the Plan.

Because the Legislature is dealing with public funds, it has the discretion to place limitations on the extent to which it will authorize payment of those public

funds. NICA administers state funds. See Coy at 945; see also Florida Birth-Related Neurological Injury Comp. Ass'n v. Carreras, 633 So. 2d 1103, 1105 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994) (noting NICA administers public funds); §766.315(5)(e), Fla. Stat. NICA possesses sovereign immunity, which has been waived by the Legislature only to "assure payment of compensation as provided in Section 766.31, Florida Statutes." See §766.303(3), Fla. Stat. The Legislature, within its discretion to appropriate public funds, authorized a parental award not to exceed \$100,000 for the parents or legal guardians, regardless of whether there are one or two parents or legal guardians involved. See e.g., Jaar v. University of Miami, 474 So. 2d 239, 245 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985) ("The Legislative purpose in enacting sovereign immunity statutes is to protect the public from 'profligate encroachments on the public treasury.") (citing Spangler v. Fla. State Turnpike Authority, 106 So. 2d 421 (Fla. 1958)); Jetton v. Jacksonville Electric Authority, 399 So. 2d 396, 399 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981); see also Campbell v. City of Coral Springs, 538 So. 2d 1373, 1375 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) (addressing the immunity provisions in Section 768.28(9), the Court held, "[w]e also find no merit in appellant's claim that the statute is unconstitutional as a denial of equal protection. The legislature has the discretion to place limits and conditions upon the scope of the sovereign immunity waiver."); American Home Assur. Co. v. National Railroad Passenger Corp., 908

So. 2d 459 (Fla. 2005) (acknowledging that one of the policy considerations for sovereign immunity is protection of the public treasury.). Thus, the limitation of the parental award of \$100,000, regardless of whether there is one parent or two parents involved, is well within the discretion of the Florida Legislature and does not offend the dictates of the equal protection clause.

Lastly, for a classification to be violative of the equal protection clause under the rational basis test, the different treatments between the similarly situated persons must be so disparate so as to render the difference wholly arbitrary. See In re Greenberg's Estate at 42. The compensation available has been acknowledged as being limited and is mainly focused on payment of actual medical expenses for the life of the child which, as acknowledged by the Legislature, is unusually high. See §766.301(2), Fla. Stat.; see also Fluet at 1011. As part of the compensation, all the parents and legal guardians are entitled to the parental award which is not to exceed \$100,000 in the aggregate. Such award is simply an appropriation and limited waiver of sovereign immunity by the Legislature of an award not to exceed a certain amount. Unlike a tort action, to be entitled to such award, the parents are not required to prove fault or prove entitlement to certain damages. Instead, if the child suffered a qualifying incident (i.e., a "birth-related neurological injury" as that term is defined in the Plan) and a participating physician provided obstetrical

services during the operative time frame, then the claim is compensable under the Plan and the parents are automatically entitled to receive a parental award not to exceed \$100,000, in the aggregate. Entitlement to the parental award is simply based on falling within the class of "parents or legal guardians" of a child with a qualifying injury. Any difference in treatment when only one parent is involved in a claim is not intentional nor is it so disparate so as to render the classification wholly arbitrary.

In social legislation such as the NICA Act and in cases where the public treasury is involved, there is more leeway provided under the dictates of equal protection. A class will not be determined to be invalid if it results incidentally in some inequality or that it is not drawn with mathematical precisions will not result in its invalidity. The classification of parents or legal guardians, in the aggregate, in Section 766.31(1)(b)1., Florida Statutes, is not arbitrary and is rationally related to legitimate state interests in continuing the Plan both to address the medical malpractice insurance rates to provide continued obstetric care in Florida and to continue to the pay the benefits authorized under the Plan. As found by the Fifth District, any incidental discriminatory affect to the Petitioners or any NICA parent is "minimal, unintentional and not arbitrary." <u>See Samples</u> at 27. As such, Section 766.31(1)(b)1., Florida Statutes, does not violate the equal protection clause.

B. Unconstitutional Vagueness and C. Access to Courts

This case is before this Court based on the limited certified question of great public importance. In their Initial Brief on the Merits, the Petitioners improperly argue the additional issues of whether the Fifth District erred in determining that Section 766.31(1)(b)1., Florida Statutes, is not unconstitutionally vague and holding that the NICA Statute does not violate access to courts. NICA respectfully submits that resolution of those issues is neither necessary nor warranted as: (1) the Fifth District squarely decided all issues raised by the Petitioners, and Petitioners did not present any jurisdictional arguments to this Court requesting review of the Fifth District's ruling on any issue other than the certified question of great public importance regarding equal protection; (2) the Mandate has issued from the Fifth District Court of Appeal; and (3) the Petitioners have accepted the NICA Award made by the ALJ subject to determination on appeal of whether they are entitled to another \$100,000. While NICA recognizes that this Court may choose to exercise its discretion to address these other issues raised by the Petitioners, NICA respectfully requests that this Court limit its review to the certified question.

If, however, this Court is inclined to address additional issues raised by the Petitioners in the Initial Brief, NICA adopts as its argument the Fifth District's analysis set forth in the opinion holding that Section 766.31(1)(b)1., Florida Statutes, is not void for vagueness and that Section 766.31(1)(b)1., Florida Statutes, and the NICA Plan, as a whole, do not violate the right to access to courts. NICA will be prepared to make such arguments at the Oral Argument in this case, as necessary.

D. Section 766.31(1)(b)1., Florida Statutes, is not Ambiguous.

In hopes that this Court will do as it did in <u>St. Mary's</u> and avoid the equal protection issue by interpreting Section 766.31(1)(b)1, Florida Statutes, as authorizing an award in an amount not to exceed \$100,000 to each parent, Petitioners attempt to persuade this Court to find an ambiguity in Section 766.31(1)(b)1., Florida Statutes. Such "ambiguity" is not there. As found by the Fifth District, Section 766.31(1)(b)1., Florida Statutes, is not ambiguous and to interpret the section as requested by the Samples would require this Court to impermissibly rewrite the NICA Statute.

The Fifth District correctly held that:

Here, the plain language of section 766.31(1)(b)1., clearly and unambiguously provides "an award to the parents . . . which award shall not exceed \$100,000." This language cannot be reasonably interpreted to provide multiple awards of \$100,000 to each parent of a qualifying child.

Samples at 22.

In so holding, the Fifth District pointed out that the Petitioners are improperly relying on the application of the rules of statutory construction to create an ambiguity, rather than resolve one. <u>Samples</u> at 22. It is well settled that the rules of statutory construction may not be applied unless there is an ambiguity on the face of the statute. <u>See GTC, Inv. v. Edgar</u>, 967 So. 2d 781, 785 (Fla. 2007).^{7 8}

The Petitioners erroneously assert that the Fifth District's holding regarding the fact that Section 766.31(1)(b)1., Florida Statutes, is unambiguous is based in part of its finding that the statute plainly authorizes no-fault compensation, not faultbased damages, is misplaced. The Fifth District determined the statute to be unambiguous based on the plain language of the statute. Samples at 21-22. The statements by the Fifth District referred to by the Petitioners are merely in rebuttal to the Petitioners' argument that "the statute is ambiguous because it does not clearly explain how a singular award to two parents replaces the common law right of each parent to recover individual damages for filial consortium." Samples at 22. The Fifth District rejected this argument noting that compensation under the Plan is no-fault compensation and that the Samples' reliance on the rule of statutory construction that statutes enacted in derogation of the common law must be strictly construed and must be clear on the extent of abrogation is not applicable because the language of the statute is plain. Thus, there is no need to resort to the rules of statutory construction. Samples at 22. The Fifth District further found that Section 766.303(2), Florida Statutes, clearly specifies the extent of the abrogation. Samples at 22-23.

⁸ The Petitioners cite to <u>Fla. Dep't of Envt'l Protection v. Contractpoint Florida</u> <u>Parks, LLC</u>, 986 So. 2d 1260 (Fla. 2008) for the proposition that Section 766.31(1)(b)1., Florida Statutes, must be read in pari materia with the NICA Statute to ascertain legislative intent. That case, however, only requires the statute to be read in pari materia if the plain reading of the statute is in conflict with other provisions of the law. <u>See Contractpoint</u> at 1265-66. Section 766.31(1)(b)1., Florida Statutes, is not in conflict with any other provision of the NICA Statute. The legislative intent is clear that Section 766.31(1)(b)1., Florida Statutes, authorizes an award to the "parents" in an amount not to exceed \$100,000." Such

The statutory history for this section supports the Fifth District's decision.

See Rollins v. Pizzarelli, 761 So. 2d 294, 299 (Fla. 2000) (using legislative history

to support the Court's interpretation of the statute); Hawkins v. Ford Motor Co.,

748 So. 2d 993, 1000 (Fla. 1999). The provision at issue was first enacted during

the special session in 1988, as part of Chapter 88-1, Laws of Florida (1988). At

that time, Section 766.31(1)(b), provided, in pertinent part:

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